
 
 

#healthyplym 
 

 
 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Thursday 27 January 2022 

10.00 am 

Warspite Room, Council House 
 

Members: 

Councillor Nicholson, Chair 

Councillor Dr Mahony, Vice Chair 

Councillors Dr Buchan and Downie. 
 

Statutory Co-opted Members: Strategic Director for People, Director of Children’s 

Services, NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group, Director for Public Health and 

Healthwatch.  

Non-statutory Members: Livewell SW, University Hospitals Plymouth NHS Trust and the 

Voluntary and Community Sector. 
 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Warspite 

Room, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 

recording for the webcast. 
 

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 

webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy. 

 

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 

process please follow this link - http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings 
 
 

Tracey Lee 

Chief Executive 

 

 Oversight and Governance 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

Plymouth  PL1 3BJ 

 

Please ask for  Amelia Boulter 

T 01752 668000 

E amelia.boulter@plymouth.gov.uk 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 

Published 19 January 2022 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Part I (Public Meeting) 

  

1. Apologies    

  

 To receive apologies for non-attendance by Health and Wellbeing Board Members. 

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

  

 The Board will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 
agenda. 

  

3. Chairs urgent business    

  

 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

4. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 8) 

  

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2021.  

  

5. Questions from the public    

  

 To receive questions from the public in accordance with the Constitution. 

 

Questions, of no longer than 50 words, can be submitted to the Democratic Support 

Unit, Plymouth City Council, Ballard House, Plymouth, PL1 3BJ, or email to 

democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk. Any questions must be received at least five clear 

working days before the date of the meeting. 

  

6. Update from Board Members    

 

7. Towards an Active Plymouth    

 

8. Primary Care Strategy Refresh   (Pages 9 - 10) 

 

9. Work Programme   (Pages 11 - 12) 

  

 The Board are invited to add items to the work programme. 

  

10. Exempt Business    

  

 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 

business on the grounds that it (they) involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 

as defined in paragraph(s) 1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by 

the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

mailto:DEMOCRATICSUPPORT@PLYMOUTH.GOV.UK


 

  

PART II (PRIVATE MEETING) 

 

AGENDA 

  

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE 
that under the law, the Panel is entitled to consider certain items in private.  Members of the 

public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed.  

 

11. Mayflower Group    

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

Thursday 7 October 2021 
 

PRESENT: 

 

Councillor Nicholson, in the Chair. 

Councillor Dr Mahony, Vice Chair. 

Councillors Dr Buchan and James (substituting for Councillor Downie). 

 

Apologies for absence: Councillor Downie, Anna Coles, Ann James, Dr Shelagh 

McCormick and Michelle Thomas.  

 

Also in attendance:  Alison Botham – joined the meeting virtually, Ruth Harrell – 
joined the meeting virtually, Craig McArdle, Tony Gravett MBE, Jane Elliot Tonic 

(Strategic Safeguarding Lead (Adults)), Emma Crowther (Strategic Commissioning 

Manager), Sarah Lees (Consultant in Public Health), Ian Biggs, Tess Fielding and Dr 

Lou Farbus (NHS England and Improvement) and Amelia Boulter (Democratic 

Advisor). 

 

The meeting started at 10.30 am and finished at 1.32 pm. 

 
Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so they may be 

subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether these minutes have been 

amended. 

 

55. Declarations of Interest   

 

There were no declarations of interest made in accordance with the code of 

conduct. 

 

56. Chairs urgent business   

 

There were no items of Chair’s urgent business. 

 

57. Minutes   

 

Agreed that the minutes of 24 June 2021 were confirmed. 

 

58. Questions from the public   

 

There were no questions from members of the public. 

 

59. Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference   

 
The Chair reported that the Terms of Reference have been updated to reflect 

organisational names changes and includes additional posts.   

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

Councillor Dr Buchan proposed an amendment to the membership in 4.1.  The Lead 

Opposition Member for Health to be changed to The Opposition Lead 

Spokesperson for Health or member nominated by the Main Opposition Party. 

 

Following a short discussion it was felt that the Lead Opposition would be an easier 

amendment. 

 

It was agreed to note the changes and to include that change at 4.1 The Lead 

Opposition Member for Health to be amended to The Lead Opposition and 

recommend for approval at Audit and Governance Committee in November.  Audit 

and Governance Committee to recommend to Full Council in January. 

 

60. Adult Safeguarding Briefing   

 

Jane Elliot Tonic (Strategic Safeguarding Lead (Adults)) was virtually present for this 
item.  Apologies were given for Andy Bickley (Independent Safeguarding Chair) who 

was unable to attend today.  It was highlighted that the approach to safeguarding in 

the city with our stakeholders cover the 4 main priority areas: 

 

 Partnerships 

 Engagement 

 Assurance 

 Learning 

 

 The Annual Report produced during a difficult year.  They have changed 

meetings for the partnerships to be conducted virtually and continued with 

strong oversight on what was impacting the city especially with less 

professional visits taking place leading to less visibility on people they may 

have concerns over; 

 The voice of service users was important and engaging with people at the end 

of the safeguarding process to see whether needs have been met.  Also 

looking at common themes locally and regionally from safeguarding reviews; 

 Ongoing piece of work on SAR Quality Markers for safeguarding review 

reports to now have a national quality marker; 

 The partnership undertook a review of the partnership structure which is 

included with the report;  

 Issues raised to us as referrals has increased to 135 per week and ensuring 

that these referrals are appropriately investigated;   

 Business Plan incorporates the work for the partnership and links with other 

partnership boards such as homelessness, domestic abuse, and transitional 

work with young people.  Ensuring that that the Business Plan financially 

viable and has the right resources and engagement and ensuring we have a 

trained and competent workforce across the city; 

 The Chair thanked Jane for the update and stated that this was a hugely 

important responsibility for the local authority and gave thanks to Andy 

Bickley and the partnership for they work they undertake in keeping people 

safe. 

 

 

Page 2



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

 

Questions from the Board related to: 

 

 Domestic abuse and who takes on that responsibility and what intervention 

and prevention was in place to support families? 

 The increase due to self-neglect was this due to Covid or demographics? 

 80 percent of referral concerns move on.  Where do they go? 

 As a Ward Councillor residents face different challenges and it’s difficult to 

know where to signpost people.  Never clear to me on what else I can do 

and where these people go? 

 What constitutes capacity and how do we track these people.  Was there a 

need to look at the broader framework on where people go and have a 

tracking system to look at that as part of work programme? 

 Are there any gaps in the partnership workforce and how do you ensure 

they was no duplication in providing these services.  Was the same 

technology, data care planning used across the partnership? 

 The gaps in the workforce would this have an adverse effect on the people 

we were trying to protect? 

 

The Chair wanted it recorded the Board’s appreciation to those involved in 

safeguarding and the protecting of our most vulnerable in the city. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board noted update on Adult Safeguarding. 

 
61. A Bright Future   

 

Emma Crowther (Strategic Commissioning Manager) was virtually present for this 

item.  It was reported that: 

 

 A Bright Future was the partnership plan for children and young people.  

With Plymouth City Council as the lead the plan has been shaped and 

informed by our partners to move forward with our vision that we were all 

agreed to ensure that all children in the city are safe, healthy, happy and 

aspire and achieve; 

 They wanted to recognise the impact of Covid and how they worked flexibly 

as a partnership; 

 Refresh of the 10 Wishes and that they still hold really true and the young 

people wanted professionals to continue to follow; 

 Underpinned by iThrive and Trauma Informed City to capture the key 

projects to ensure that the plan would be relevant for a long time as well as 

being ambitious for the city’s children. 

 

The Plan underpinned by following principles: 

 

 Prevention is a fundamental aspect of provision 

 Early help will be embedded across the system 

 Innovation and evidence informs our interventions with families 

 Systems should be responsive and accessible, not waiting for crisis to happen 

before help is offered 

Page 3



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

 Approaches must build on the strength and resilience of individuals, families 

and communities 

 We explore the root causes of disadvantage and improve inclusion and 

improve opportunities for inclusion 

 Raising attainment is critical to reducing the impact of poverty 

 We listen to what children, young people and families tell us and use this to 

drive change  

 We challenge ourselves to make sure we have the right support available at 

the right time and in the right place to support families 

 We ask ourselves whether we are working together as well as we can 

 We consider whether we are taking into account all the factors/context in 

the life of a child, including both resilience and risk 

 

Next Steps: 

 Establishing a Strategic System Leadership Board 

 Creation of a new Healthy and Happy group 

 Plymouth Education Board = Aspire and Achieve 

 Plymouth Safeguarding Children’s Partnership = Safe 

 Ceasing the CYP System Design Group 

 Clarity on where key projects cross more than one governance group, e.g. 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing Steering Group 

 Visibility of reporting into Local Care Partnership 

 

Questions from the Board related to: 

 

 Young Carers and that these children have huge responsibilities at the 

expense of their education.  How are these children supported? 

 The physical health of children and taking exercise during Covid taken 

forward and other ways of dealing with mental health rather than taking a 

prescription?   

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the Bright Future Report. 

 

62. Suicide Prevention   

 

Sarah Lees (Consultant in Public Health) was present this item virtually.  It was 

reported that: 

 

 Suicide was a major societal issue; 

 In England ~ 6,000 deaths by suicide each year; 

 Average cost to society of each death ~ £1.67 million; 

 Leading cause of years of life lost; 

 Leading cause of death in men <50 years, in young people and in new 

mothers; 

 70% of those people who die by suicide were not in receipt of mental health 

services; 

 3 times more men than women die by suicide; 

Page 4



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

 England average age-standardised rate [2017-2019] = 10.1/100,000. Plymouth 

rate 11.7/100,000; 

 Suicides are not inevitable, they are preventable; 

 

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic: 

 

 They know that risk factors for mental illness have increased during the 

pandemic; 

 They were seeing increased demand for mental health services (especially for 

anxiety and depression); 

 National data shows no evidence of an increase in suicide deaths to date; 

 No local evidence of an increase in suicide deaths to date; 

 Coroner services closed for 6 months in 2020; 

 Delays to finalised data for 2020; 

 2020 and 2021 likely to be unrepresentative years (due to coroner delays). 

 

Questions from Board Members related to: 

 

 How was the Coroner dealing with the backlog? 

 Does the audit data get retrospectively adjusted or does this happen when 

the coroner gives their verdict? 

 How can we improve preventing suicides in some of these categories where 

we know there is a problem? 

 How do we integrate the data on the RTS with the mental health services? 

Are people known or already in the system? 

 What were the Triage pathways through MH services? 

 Whether a separate report could be provided to drill down on how the 

services provided when people were identified at risk?  Oversight of the 

pathway and how we were serving people at are present?  It was reported 

that a Select Committee would be taking place looking at mental health 

provision within the city; 

 Asked whether the Plymouth Suicide Prevention Action Plan when available 

could be shared with the board? 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the Suicide Prevention update and for the 

Suicide Prevention Action Plan to be circulated to the Board when available. 

 

63. GP Access Scrutiny Report   

 

The Chair to ask Councillor James, Chair of Health and Adult Social Care Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee to provide an update on GP Access.  It was reported that: 
 

At the last Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on 24 June 2021 the Board received 

a report on GP surgeries.  The Board recommended to refer the issue of GP access 

to the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee and a Part II 

paper on the Mayflower Group to be shared with scrutiny and ward councillors. 

 

Page 5



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

The report attached to the agenda today went to the health scrutiny on 28 July 

2021.  NHS Devon CCG were in attendance and provided an update and the 

following areas where raised and discussed by the Committee: 

 Face to face contact and when this would re-commence; 

 The number of patients that fail to get through/make contact with their GP 

surgery; 

 Support provided to patients on the modern ways to access GP practices; 

 Continuing issues with specific practices within the city; 

 Negative experiences with eConsult and NHS III; 

 Impact on the Emergency Department; 

 Recruitment and retention of GPs in the city. 

  

The Committee noted the report and requested further updates at the next meeting 

on 22 September.  The Committee had a further meeting with NHS Devon CCG on 

the Improvement Plan and this meeting was held in Part II. 

 

Committee members and relevant Ward Councillors attended a Part II briefing 

session with the Mayflower Group which took place on 9 September 2021.  The 

session was well attended with a good debate with member’s raising issues their 

residents had faced and put forward suggestions on how to address the issues raised.   

 

Discussions were taking place for committee members and relevant Ward 

Councillors to receive regular updates from the Mayflower Group. 

 
Questions from Members related to: 

 

 When face to face consultations would commence; 

 The survey data and questions around the virtual panel; 

 Continuing issues with eConsult; 

 The overall patient experience and addressing performance of GP surgeries; 

 Whether report produced by Healthwatch highlighted areas where the CCG 

were not delivering; 

 The closing of the Estover practice. 

 

It was agreed that the improvement plan discussed in Part II at the Health Scrutiny 

meeting in July to be shared with Health and Wellbeing Board Members. 

 

64. Dental Access for Adults and Children in Plymouth, September 2021   

 

Ian Biggs, Tess Fielding and Dr Lou Farbus (NHS England and Improvement) were 

present this item and joined the meeting virtually.  It was highlighted that: 

 

 Primary care and dental services had been impacted by the pandemic; 

 Continued focus on urgent care and for the medium and long term goal for 

everyone to access a dentist; 

 The Dental Reform Programme looking longer term at the oral health needs 

assessment.  This open to members of this board and would address oral 

health improvement and workforce; 

Page 6



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

 Reinvesting into practices that can deliver more as well as providing practices 

that were struggling with advice and support; 

 Oral health of children vital in reform programme and identify children that 

were in need of help; 

 Coordinated approach to attract dentists similar to the GP prospectus. 

 

Questions from Members related to: 

 

 The Cavell Centre; 

 The opportunity to use the loss of funding being given back when dental 

practices haven’t been able to deliver and to reinvest back into the 

community 

 The fluoride varnish scheme in which 24 primary schools benefit from and 

whether the provision of fluoride varnishing could be extended across the 

city so that every child be able to access this service.  

 Action plan being prepared and this would be available? 

 What kind of short term strategy was being brought in and timelines?   

 The Board requested further information on the Dental Reform Programme 

and the timescales 

 The fluoridation of water process and whether this could be looked at by 
Health Scrutiny. 

 

Ian Biggs added that NHS England and Improvement were working really hard to 

address the problems that they know exist within the city and gave assurance that 

the Dental Reform Programme was really important vehicle to address this. 

 

The Board noted the update and requested that NHS England and Improvement: 

 

1. The Board to have sight of the action plan when available and to receive 

further information on the Dental Reform Programme. 

2. To continue to work with the city to achieve the level of improvement that 

the city aspires to be. 

3. To look at extra investment into the Cavell Centre to include NHS provision 

to maximise dental provision within the city. 

4. Collectively work with the city to expand the supervised tooth brushing 

scheme and fluoride scheme in all city primary schools. 

 

65. Work Programme   

 

The Board agreed the following items for January and February meetings: 

 

January: 

 Admission avoidance services across physical and mental health (CCRT, acute 

nursing service and First Response); 

 How citizens with learning disabilities and severe mental illness have fared in 

Covid; 

 Projected increases in demand for MH services linked to economy and post 

Covid; 

Page 7



 

Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday 7 October 2021 

OFFICIAL 

 Transformation in Enhanced Primary Care (community MDT and care home 

support). 

 
March meeting: 

 Safer Plymouth Partnership; 

 The Alliance; 

 Maternity Services; 

 Health Inequalities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



 

 OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW PLAN 
Overview and Scrutiny

 

GENERAL PRACTICE SELECT COMMITTEE 

Raised by  - 
Councillor David James 

 

Purpose of Review 

The review will consider (subject to further discussion with the CCG) -  

 the respective roles and responsibilities of NHS England and Clinical Commissioning Groups in terms 

of the commissioning of GP services across Plymouth (and Devon and Torbay).  

 the extent of GP coverage across Plymouth (and Devon and Torbay) including information in respect 

of: 

o The number of GP practices in Plymouth (and Devon and Torbay); 

o Practice boundaries in Plymouth (and Devon and Torbay) including practice list sizes;  

o Staffing structures within GP practices;  

o Single vs multiple branch GP practices;  

o Skills mix across GP practices;  

o GP Appointment capacity and demand for appointments across GP practices including DNA 

rates.  

 the impact of the General Practice 5 year forward view (2016) 

 the existing and future workforce and demographic pressures which may impact on current and future 

access to GP services.  

 the role of GP Practices, Primary Care Networks in the developing Integrated Care System 

 areas of good practice (both national and international) in relation to -   

o workforce pressures and skill mix.  
o delivery of primary care in urban (and rural areas) 
o recruitment and retention at start and end of career.  
o access, quality and resilience. 
o additional services to support primary care.  

 the local authorities’ role and responsibilities in supporting GP services at a place and neighbourhood 

level. 
 

Select Committee Membership 

 

TBC – Possible Joint Approach with Devon and Torbay 

 

Process 

Methodology/Approach To be confirmed, but will likely include a series of meetings, site 

visits and expert witnesses (both national and international). 
 

Contact will be made with Scrutiny colleagues in Torbay and Devon 

to investigate the possibility of a joint approach as this issue is a high 

priority for all scrutiny committees in the Devon Integrated Care 

System. 

 

Sources of Information/ Tbc 

Page 9 Agenda Item 8



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW PLAN Page 2 of 2 

OFFICIAL 

Evidence 

Consultation Exercises Tbc 

Witness/Expert Participation Tbc 

Site Visits Tbc 

Resource Requirements Tbc 

Post Review 

Reporting Process Dependent on the final form of the review, a final report and 

recommendations will be provided to local and national 

stakeholders. 

Anticipated Completion Date Tbc 

Report Deadline Tbc 

Meeting Frequency Tbc 

Dates of Meeting(s) Tbc 

 

Page 10



 

January 2022  

OFFICIAL 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Work Programme 2021 - 22

 

 

 

 

Date of meeting 

 

Agenda item 

 

Responsible  

24 June 2021 

GP Surgeries NHS Devon CCG 

Mental Health Needs Assessment Sarah Lees/Kamal Patel 

Opting out of NHS Patient Data NHSE 

Healthy Communities Together Matt Bell and Rachel Silcock 

Together for Childhood Julie Frier/Jean Kelly 

Update from Board Members All Board Members 

DCIOS Health Protection annual report Julie Frier/Ruth Harrell 

7 October 2021 

Suicide Prevention Sarah Lees 

Bright Futures Emma Crowther 

Dental Health Oral Health Needs Assessment Ian Biggs, Dr Lou Farbus/ 

Tessa Fielding 

Adult Safeguarding Jane Elliot Toncic 

GP Access Scrutiny Report Councillor James 

27 January 2022 

Update from Board Members All Board Members 

Towards an Active Plymouth Active Devon 

Primary Care Jo Turl 

Plymouth Prospectus Craig McArdle 

Mayflower Group Mark Procter 

3 March 2022 

Safer Plymouth Partnership  

The Alliance  

Health Inequalities  

Items to be 

scheduled 

Food Insecurity  

Growth Board/Resurgum Board  

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment – Sept 2022 Public Health 

 

Admission avoidance services across physical 

and mental health (CCRT, acute nursing 

service and First Response) 

Livewell SW 

 
How citizens with learning disabilities and 

severe mental illness have fared in Covid  

Livewell SW 

 
Projected increases in demand for MH services 
linked to economy and post Covid 

Livewell SW 

 
Transformation in Enhanced Primary Care 

(community MDT and care home support) 

Livewell SW 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	8 Primary Care Strategy Refresh
	9 Work Programme

